THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**May 01 2025**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000529

James Dustin Lucas, ..... Appellant,

v.

State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, ..... Respondent.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Joshua T. Hawkins, SC Bar #78470  
Helena L. Jedziniak, SC Bar #100825  
Hawkins & Jedziniak, LLC  
1225 South Church Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29605  
Tel: (864) 275-8142  
Fax: (864)752-0911  
[josh@hjlsc.com](mailto:josh@hjlsc.com)  
[helena@hjlsc.com](mailto:helena@hjlsc.com)

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment when the Appellant submitted more than a scintilla of evidence in support of his claims.
2. Whether the Circuit Court relied upon inapplicable case law.
3. Whether the Circuit Court's ruling deprives the Appellant of his constitutional right to a jury trial.
4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in ignoring the at-issue doctrine with respect to reserve information that proves State Farm's fraudulent breach of contract.
5. Whether the Circuit Court erred in allowing a fact witness to testify in favor of the Respondent at the summary judgment hearing.
6. Whether the Circuit Court erred in holding that the Appellant's damages were speculative.
7. Whether rule 43(k) is satisfied by an attorney agreement made by email.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court has never addressed a case where an insurance company intentionally used a lie to get an insured out of default with a promise to mediate within parameters, then intentionally violated our State's mandatory ADR rules at the mediation. Petitioners respectfully submit that this case is cert-worthy for that reason.

Petitioner sued State Farm's insured after he was injured in a bad wreck that hospitalized him and others. Months after default was entered as to State Farm's insured, State Farm asked Petitioner to let its insured out of default. Petitioner responded in writing that he would let Respondent's insured out of default if Respondent would mediate between its reserve and its policy limit. Respondent agreed to this, in writing, through counsel it hired to represent its insured. However, Respondent appears to have never had any intention of keeping its end of the deal.

Once the Respondent had gotten what it made the fraudulent promise over, its insured out of default, Respondent showed up to mediation, without its insured present, in direct violation of SCADR Rule 6, declared it would not pay more than \$1,000, and spoiled the mediation. To make matters worse, Respondent refused to provide any information about its reserve, refused to provide an affidavit about its reserve, and refused to offer reserve information for *in camera* review. Respondent State Farm's plain fraud and disrespect for officers of the Court, the Rules of Court, and the Court itself could not be more flagrant.

After Respondent State Farm told the costly lie and intentionally violated our mandatory ADR rules, Petitioner sued Respondent. Respondent's deception and violation of the rules cost Petitioner the price of a non-conforming mediation as well as resolution between the parameters within which Respondent lied about negotiating. Respondent then moved for summary judgment before any depositions were taken. Petitioner rebutted the motion, not only with evidence, but

irrefutable proof of Respondent State Farm's fraudulent statements, followed by its intentional and admitted violation of mandatory ADR rules. Notwithstanding that uncontroverted proof, the Circuit Court granted Respondent's motion. Petitioner filed a SCRCP 59(e) motion and preserved all issues for appeal, and the Circuit Court denied that motion. Lucas thereafter timely filed an appeal, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling. Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and *en banc* review, which was denied. Petitioner now seeks review of that decision.

### **FACTS**

On June 17, 2017, Petitioner and two other individuals rode as passengers in Petitioner's car, driven by Petitioner's girlfriend. That car was struck by a Ford F-250 driven by Respondent's insured, weighted down with lawnmowers and landscaping equipment and driving at an excessive speed.<sup>1</sup>

On June 7, 2020, Petitioner filed suit against Respondent's insured. Petitioner served the summons, complaint, and discovery requests on June 23, 2020. Neither Petitioner nor its insured filed an answer or requested an extension of time to file a responsive pleading. Default was entered against Respondent's insured on October 2, 2020, more than three months after service. Petitioner sent letters to Respondent State Farm on March 24, 2021, and April 14, 2021, and even postponed a damages hearing in an effort to allow Respondent to hire defense counsel for its insured and participate in litigation. Nearly 10 months after Respondent's insured was served, on April 20, 2021, Respondent had an insurance defense lawyer contact Petitioner's counsel and ask to be let out of default.

Neither Respondent nor its insured had any good cause or even a reason for the failure to

---

<sup>1</sup> Four witnesses, including the responding officer, the Petitioner's girlfriend, Petitioner, and Respondent's insured, have acknowledged Respondent's insured was speeding when the collision occurred.

respond to the properly served complaint and discovery requests for the better part of a year. Petitioner communicated to Respondent that Petitioner would agree to cancel the scheduled damages hearing and let Respondent's insured out of default, only if Respondent, State Farm, agreed to mediate the case between the amount of its highest reserve and its policy limit. Petitioner then engaged in what would later be learned was clear and intentional deception, communicating an acceptance of the deal in writing. Petitioner relied on Respondent's deception, and performed to his detriment by allowing cancellation of the damages hearing.

Mediation was scheduled, which of course requires attendance by all parties. Respondent, State Farm, appeared at the mediation, violated mandatory SCADR Rule 6, requiring participation by Respondent's insured, and breached the agreement to mediate within clearly established perimeters by offering less than the amount of its highest reserve. Petitioner offered \$1,000.00 in a case where a vehicle rolled over and multiple people were hospitalized. Petitioner removed any doubt that \$1,000.00 was below its reserve by 1) refusing to provide an affidavit confirming the reserve amount, 2) refusing to submit the reserve amount for *in camera* review, and 3) by filing an offer of judgment for \$2,500.00, which is two and a half times more than the amount offered at the mediation, the mandatory rules of which Respondent intentionally violated.

To avoid filing a second lawsuit, Petitioner filed a motion to compel the production of materials in Petitioner's claim file, which includes reserve information, to conclusively establish Respondent's reserve amount related to its fraud and violation of our ADR rules. The Circuit Court ruled that Respondent was not required to produce reserve information, in part because Petitioner had not filed a direct action against Respondent for breach of contract. So that is what Petitioner did.

Petitioner filed suit against Respondent, and stated in the complaint that, pursuant to *Shores*

*v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 433 S.E.2d 913 (Ct. App. 1993), he would not be precluded from recovering minimum financial limits under Respondent's policy, even if Respondent's insured failed to give Respondent notice he was sued as a result of the wreck. This demonstrated that, along with the cost of the mediation, which was worthless because of State Farm's deception and violation of ADR Rules, Petitioner sustained damages as a result of State Farm's conduct.

Petitioner served discovery requests on Respondent, which included requests for the production of the reserve information Respondent put at issue by agreeing to the terms of the proposed mediation. Petitioner also noticed a deposition, and in response, Respondent moved for summary judgment, basically claiming it was allowed to engage in fraud and nefarious conduct. Petitioner seemed to take the position that it is permitted to make agreements with no intention of acting accordingly or in good faith because, 1) SCRCF 43(k) allows as much, and 2) portions of Respondent's breach and dishonesty occurred during the mediation, the governing rules of which the Respondent violated. In response, Petitioner argued that SCRCF 43(k) applies to settlement agreements and not breaches of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act. Besides this, of course, there is the fact that SCRCF 43(k) relates to agreements in the suit being litigated, not a separate suit stemming from fraud and recklessness in violating mandatory rules. Petitioner also argued that tortious conduct is not without a remedy simply because the tortfeasor commits some or all of the tortious conduct during mediation.

All said, Respondent State Farm believes it is above the law and the rules of the Court. Respondent advanced a lie in writing and does not – because it cannot – deny that the proof of that lie is unambiguous and commemorated. Neither can Respondent contest that it knowingly, willfully, and blatantly violated our mandatory Alternative Dispute Resolution rules. Petitioner asks that certiorari be granted, and the law be clarified to mandate insurance carriers' adherence

to requirements and rules that our Legislature has mandated.

## **ARGUMENT**

Insurance companies do not get to do whatever they want or follow rules that are mandatory in this State only when they choose to do so. Insurance companies are required to follow ADR rules, just as any other entity is required to do, and they are not immune from suit stemming from fraud and deception for any reason.

The Court of Appeal’s opinion ignores the fact that Respondent intentionally engaged in fraud, knowingly made false statements, and intentionally violated mandatory ADR rules, all of which caused harm to Petitioner. The emails showing Respondent’s deception, which are part of the Record on Appeal, show that counsel hired by Respondent immediately contacted the Circuit Court to cancel the damages hearing before anything further—such as wet signatures or other formalities—could solidify the clear and unambiguous agreement. The opinion ignores the fact that attorneys reflected the bargained-for and consideration-supported agreement in writing with signature blocks.

This case deserves Supreme Court review because right now, Respondent’s conduct described above, which is uncontested, is essentially endorsed. Without Supreme Court review and correction, the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals condones conduct that is forbidden by general legal principles and, perhaps more importantly, our Legislature.

### **I. SCRCP 43(k) applies to “pending litigation,” not a subsequent action for damages.**

The Court of Appeals held “[t]he intent of Rule 43(k) is to require all agreements regarding **pending litigation** ‘to satisfy the requirements of the rule.’” *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Constr. Grp, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 495, 458 S.E.2d 533, 535 (1995). (Emphasis added.) The dismissed action that is the subject of this appeal is not the “pending litigation.” In other words, this case is separate

from the wreck case, where Respondent lied and violated Court rules. Even if the Circuit Court used SCRCP 43(k) to let Respondent off the hook for its fraud in the wreck case, that rule does not preclude Petitioner from filing a lawsuit like this one against Respondent for its fraud and violations that proximately caused Petitioner damages in a separate lawsuit.

*Ashfort* makes it clear that the purpose of SCRCP 43(k) is to “prevent a fraudulent claim.” *Id.* at 535. Respondent not only made a fraudulent claim in writing, but the fraudulent statement also caused reliance and a change in position. If the purpose of SCRCP 43(k) is to prevent fraud, it makes no sense that the rule would prevent a damaged party from filing an action against an insurer that caused damage by engaging in fraud and violation of mandatory rules.

It is an outrageous and morally repugnant concept – as the Court of Appeals’ opinion stands now, an insurer is permitted to lie, benefit as a result, injure another party as a result, then violate mandatory rules as it wishes, and get away with it without the injured party having any recourse. There is no portion of SCRCP 43(k), *Ashfort*, or any other authority that permits or endorses an insurer engaging in fraud get out of default, then prolonging litigation in violation of mandatory ADR rules.

This is not a case where a party “[m]erely describing an alleged agreement for the purpose of defending against it does not satisfy this condition,” as stated in the opinion. It is a case where Respondent made an agreement in writing, for its own benefit, to Petitioner’s detriment. Respondent then used the change in position it gained from the lie to willfully violate our ADR rules, without apology to the Court or anyone else.

The opinion cites as support for affirming the Circuit Court’s decision that “[t]he parties did not reach a settlement during mediation,” but that hurts, not helps, Respondent. *Of course*, the parties did not reach a resolution – because Respondent offered \$1,000, an amount less than its

highest reserve, in violation of its agreement, without its insured present to witness the outrageous conduct of his insurance company.

**II. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment because Petitioner supported his claims with evidence, and if his allegations were assumed true, he could recover from a jury.**

A “court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *SCRCP* 56(a). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Koester v. Carolina Rental Center, Inc.*, 443 S.E. 392 (1994) citing *Hamilton v. Miller*, 301 S.C. 45, 47, 389 S.E.2d 652, 653 (1990). Circumstantial evidence alone can be sufficient to withstand summary judgment. *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 323 S.C. 168, 473 S.E.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1996), *rev’d on other grounds*, 331 S.C. 565, 503 S.E.2d 712 (1998) (“In totality, the Court comes to the inescapable conclusion that there is sufficient circumstantial evidence in the record to create a factual issue.”). “Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment ‘should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.’” *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (S.C. 1990) quoting *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975).

Petitioner submitted several pieces of evidence to rebut Respondent’s motion that, if assumed true, would allow Petitioner to recover. Specifically, Petitioner submitted emails that show his offer to let Respondent’s insured out of default on the condition that Respondent agreed to mediate between its highest reserve and its policy limit. Petitioner also submitted proof of Respondent’s acceptance of the offer. After entering into this binding agreement, Respondent refused to bring its insured to the mediation, as required by SCADR Rule 6(b)(2):

The following persons shall physically attend a mediation settlement conference unless otherwise agreed to by the mediator and all parties or as ordered or approved by the Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes of the circuit:

- (1) The mediator;
- (2) All individual parties; or an officer, director or employee having full authority to settle the claim for a corporate party; or in the case of a governmental agency, a representative of that agency with full authority to negotiate on behalf of the agency and recommend a settlement to the appropriate decision-making body of the agency;
- (3) The party's counsel of record, if any; and
- (4) For any insured party against whom a claim is made, a representative of the insurance carrier who is not the carrier's outside counsel and who has full authority to settle the claim.

Respondent breached its agreement to mediate, which necessarily requires a mediation that complies with the South Carolina ADR rules.

As Petitioner repeatedly stated at the summary judgment hearing, verification of the reserve amount would conclusively establish whether Respondent breached its agreement (Hearing Transcript pp. 9:15-19, 31:1-4). (“...if [reserve information] is something that the Court would be more comfortable being offered in camera, then certainly we would be okay with that.” (Hearing Transcript p. 31:1-4)); “if we get an affidavit from anybody involved saying that the reserve was [\$]1,000, then that’s fine.” Additionally, State Farm has filed an offer of judgment in the underlying case for \$2,500.00, significantly higher than its max offer at mediation. This establishes a virtual certainty that Respondent refused to negotiate in the parameters within which it promised to negotiate to get its insured out of default.

Weighing the facts and inferences in favor of Petitioner, the parties entered into a binding contract for Petitioner to let Respondent’s insured out of default in exchange for Respondent mediating the case between its highest reserve and the policy limit. Respondent then breached that agreement by failing to have its insured present at mediation, as required by SCADR 6(b).

Respondent further breached its agreement by failing to mediate between its highest reserve and the policy limit.

It was also improper for the Circuit Court to grant summary judgment when the parties had no adequate opportunity to engage in discovery. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and “must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112 (1991); see also *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439-40 (2003). Petitioner attempted to engage in discovery from the start of this litigation, even serving discovery requests with the complaint. As Petitioner’s counsel stated during the summary judgment hearing, the limited responses that State Farm produced consisted mostly of claims of privilege with no privilege log, as is required by SCRCP 26(b)(5). (Hearing Transcript pp. 34:23-35:7). When the appellant attempted to schedule a deposition, he received the following response:

On November 18, Judge Gibbons continued until February 17 all motions, one of which was SF’s motion to stay this case while the underlying case is pending. Judge Gibbons issued a form 4 order which referenced the filed motions and which stated “in the interest of efficiency and fairness, these matters are administratively continued until the February term of court for Judge Morgan to hear all motions. **The Court sua sponte orders the case to remain status quo until that time**” (emphasis added) Your deposition notice is in violation of this order. Have you forgotten about the order, or are you intending to violate the order? Either way, there will be no discovery until the motions are adjudicated by Judge Morgan at the hearing February 17.

After receiving the email from State Farm’s counsel, Petitioner contacted the Circuit Court for clarification, and the Court verified that no discovery was allowed until the hearing on February 17, 2023. This means Petitioner was not allowed to conduct discovery prior to the February 17, 2023, hearing and, therefore, did not have a “full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery.” The deposition of a SCRCP 30(b)(6) representative from State Farm would have determined the issues of whether Respondent acted deceptively, mediated according to the terms of the agreement, and

breached its agreement with Petitioner. As Petitioner argued to the Circuit Court, Respondent's summary judgment motion was premature (Hearing Transcript pp. 30:12-31:4) and should not have been granted. The Court of Appeals did not address this properly raised issue, relying on *Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999). Petitioner appreciates the ruling in *Futch*, but respectfully submits that this and other issues preserved in Petitioner's SCRCF 59(e) motion, appellate brief, and motion for rehearing should be ruled on and the Circuit Court's decision reversed.

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