RECEIVED

May 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000529

James Dustin Lucas, Appellant,

v.

State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance Company, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WHELAN MELLEN & NORRIS, LLC

Charles R. Norris, Esquire
89 Broad Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 619-3824

E-Mail: charles@whelanmellen.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

without presenting confidential communications made during mediation. We agree with this as well.” *Lucas*, Op. No. 2025-UP-011 at 4.

The Petitioner’s response in his Petition for Rehearing was: “Simply being in mediation does not provide a license to lie, cheat, and steal... The Record on Appeal includes emails exchanged outside of mediation and transcripts of in-court statements proving that State Farm gained a benefit through deception, refused to perform, and violated ADR rules.” (Petition for Rehearing at 3-4). This argument side-stepped the point that what happened in the mediation itself is the foundation of the plaintiff’s case and without that information the plaintiff has no case. Additionally, the source of information about what happened in the mediation is the Petitioner’s counsel. Arguments of plaintiff’s counsel are not evidence and cannot supply otherwise prohibited information. *In re: Venture Eng’g for DT LLC v. Horry Cnty. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 433 S.C. 419, 858 S.E.2d 638 (Ct. App. 2021); *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. Thompson*, 357 S.C. 101, 105, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003). Further, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari does not identify this in the list of statement of issues on appeal, nor is this holding of the trial court or the Court of Appeals argued in the Petition. The only instance in which the Petitioner references the ADR rules is to claim it was State Farm which “intentionally violated mandatory ADR rules...” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 6).

Because the rulings by the trial court and the Court of Appeals that the Petitioner violated the rule against revealing confidential communications during a mediation is not addressed in the Petition, that issue is unpreserved and this alone is grounds for denial of certiorari.

V. The Petition ignores the ruling in *Hood v. United Services Automobile Association*, which the Petition references as an unpublished opinion.

The Petition purports to cite to a South Carolina Supreme Court decision in *Hood v. United Services Automobile Association*, which Petitioner states is unpublished, quoting “this Court” as

follows: “[i]t may be that USAA [the insurer] had a duty to answer truthfully if asked whether it was offering the maximum amount of its authority, but that question was not asked here and is not before us.” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 17). That quote does not appear in the decision of the Supreme Court. *See Hood v. U.S. Auto. Ass’n*, 445 S.C. 1, 16, 910 S.E.2d 767, 775 (2025), *reh’g denied* (Jan. 24, 2025). What is in the published decision of the Supreme Court is a holding that “South Carolina law does not require an insurance company to disclose and offer its full reserves or full authority...” and “USAA nor was it obligated to offer Hood the full amount of its reserve, nor was it obligated to offer the full amount of its settlement authority.” *Hood v. U.S. Auto. Ass’n*, 445 S.C. 1, 16, 910 S.E.2d 767, 775 (2025), *reh’g denied* (Jan. 24, 2025). In any event, the email of JeanMarie Tankersley stating, “we did negotiate between the reserves and the limits, as we agreed to” is uncontradicted. (R. p. 60).

VI. The attorney representing Knox did not offer “testimony” at the hearing on State Farm’s Motion for Summary Judgment; no statements by that attorney concerned the merits of either party’s Motion for Summary Judgment; and counsel for the Petitioner waived any complaint about that attorney’s statements by not requesting to cross-examine that attorney.

The Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals failed to address that State Farm’s offer live testimony from an insurance defense lawyer at the summary judgment hearing deprived the Petitioner of the right to cross-examine that attorney. (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 20-21). This argument fails for a number of reasons.

First, this issue was not preserved in the Petition for Rehearing before the Court of Appeals. Second, the transcript of the hearing shows attorney Tankersley was never sworn in by the court to testify and therefore did not offer testimony. (R. pp. 153-205). Third, Attorney Tankersley made no statements in support of State Farm’s Motion for Summary Judgment and counsel for State Farm stated, “the reason Ms. Tankersley was participating today is because this case is related to the underlying case... She has not made any arguments on the merits of any of these motions

today.... She does not [represent State Farm].” (R. pp. 160, 161; 168; 203, 204). In response, the trial court stated “I do agree with plaintiff’s counsel . . . that Ms. Tankersley would be foreclosed from making any kind of argument. So she has indicated she is not making any argument, going forward. So that resolves that.” (R. p. 204). The trial court then asked if there was anything from the plaintiff and plaintiff’s counsel responded “no, Your Honor.” (R. p. 204). At no point in the hearing did the attorney for the Petitioner ask to cross-examine Ms. Tankersley.

For all these reasons, part VI of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari has no merit.

VII. The Petitioner’s alleged agreement or contract with counsel for Knox was subject to the requirements of Rule 43(k), SCRCF, and did not comply with that rule.

The Petitioner argues that Rule 43(k), SCRCF, applies to “pending litigation” and this lawsuit against State Farm is not the “pending litigation.” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 6). This argument fails for several reasons. First, the term “pending litigation” is not in Rule 43(k). Instead, this rule applies to agreements between counsel affecting “proceedings in an action...” Rule 43(k), SCRCF. Second, the Petitioner’s lawsuit against State Farm is “pending litigation.” Third, even if Rule 43(k) applied to an alleged agreement in the Petitioner’s case against Knox, it is proper to apply this rule to Petitioner’s case against State Farm; otherwise, a party could circumvent the requirements of Rule 43(k) simply by filing a separate lawsuit, which is what the Petitioner has attempted. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded it had “no difficulty determining Rule 43(k) applies to this case.” *Lucas*, Op. No. 2025-UP-011 at 3.

An exchange of emails does not comply with Rule 43(k). As noted in the *Ashford* case cited by the Petitioner, the intent of Rule 43(k) is to require all agreements regarding pending litigation to either be announced in open court or be reduced to a consent order or written stipulation and entered. As noted by the Court of Appeals, neither the Petitioner nor Knox signed the alleged agreement as required by Rule 43(k). The only exception to this rule is where the parties

reach a settlement agreement during mediation and the settlement agreement involves payment by an insurer. Here, however, the parties did not reach a settlement agreement, so the exception in Rule 43(k) is inapplicable.

As noted by the Supreme Court in *S.C. Hum. Affs. Comm'n v. Chen*, substantial compliance with Rule 43(k) is not sufficient. 430 S.C. 509, 846 S.E.2d 861 (2020). Additionally, the Court of Appeals did not err in citing the *Chen* case. The Petitioner appears to argue *Chen* is distinguishable because it is limited to settlement agreements, whereas the alleged agreement here was one to mediate within certain limits. This argument is inconsistent with the wording of Rule 43(k). While the rule does reference “a settlement agreement,” the rule commences with a general statement about agreements “affecting the proceedings in an action...” (See State Farm’s Response Brief in the Court of Appeals at 6). Neither *Chen* nor Rule 43(k) state that the rule is limited to settlement agreements.

VIII. Even if Rule 43(k) did not apply to the alleged agreement between counsel for the Petitioner and counsel for Knox, there is no evidence State Farm breached that agreement.

The only potentially admissible evidence presented to the circuit court relating to whether State Farm complied with or breached the alleged agreement between counsel for Petitioner and counsel for Knox was the email from Knox’s counsel to Petitioner’s counsel asserting State Farm had negotiated between its reserves and the policy limit. (R. p. 60). The petitioner never submitted an affidavit of a competent witness or any admissible evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact as to State Farm’s compliance with the alleged agreement. The circuit court therefore did not improperly weigh evidence as argued by the Petitioner; rather, there was simply no countervailing evidence to weigh.

Additionally, the sole source of the claim that State Farm breached the alleged agreement by failing to mediate between its reserves and Knox’s liability limits was the Petitioner’s counsel

and his uninformed, subjective belief of what reserves State Farm must have established. It is well-established that counsel's statements regarding the facts of the case and counsel's arguments are not admissible evidence. *Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649 (2006).

IX. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari misreads the holding in *Shores v. Weaver*.

The Petitioner argues he was entitled to a monetary recovery, relying upon *Shores v. Weaver*, for the proposition minimum limits of liability insurance are not defeated by an insured's default. Relying upon *Shores*, the Petitioner argues he would not have been precluded from collecting minimum financial responsibility limits from State Farm and that by letting Knox out of default the Petitioner "gave up his right to have a judgment of up to \$25,000 awarded in his favor..." (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 23). The Petitioner claims under the *Shores* case he was "entitled to Respondent's minimum limits policy..." (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 18). If this was the case, that raises the question of why there was a mediation at all when, according to the Petitioner, he was already entitled to State Farm's minimum limits.

The *Shores* case addresses an issue of insurance coverage; it does not relieve a plaintiff from having to prove damages. *Shores v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 433 S.E.2d 913 (Ct. App. 1993). The Court of Appeals correctly stated, "the idea that State Farm's insured being in default would have automatically entitled Lucas to a \$25,000 judgment is patently meritless." *Lucas*, Op. No. 2025-UP-011 at 4.

X. The Petitioner presented no probative, admissible evidence of a fraudulent act by State Farm.

The Petitioner asserts State Farm engaged in fraudulent conduct by agreeing to negotiate above its reserves and then not doing so. (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 18; R. p. 21). There is no evidence in the record that State Farm did not negotiate between its reserves and the liability limits. Counsel for Knox stated in an email subsequent to the mediation that "we did negotiate between

the reserves and the limits, as we agreed to. Given the liability dispute, however, I do not believe this case is worth policy limits, which from my understanding was your only demand.” (R. p. 60). Nothing in the record contradicts the statement in this email.

The Petitioner’s claim of fraud fails for a multitude of reasons, as noted in the trial court’s order. (R. p. 8). There was no false statement. There was no evidence of Petitioner’s reliance on the alleged false statement. There was no evidence of a consequent and proximate injury and the alleged statement to mediate in any event related to an act in the future, not a present or pre-existing fact. (R. p. 8).

XI. The Petitioner has no proof of damages.

The Petitioner argues that at the time of the mediation he “was, in fact, entitled to a monetary recovery.” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 22). In support of this statement, the Petitioner continues to reference *Shores v. Weaver* and claims, based upon that case, he “would not have been precluded from collecting minimum financial responsibility limits from the Respondent...” and by letting Knox out of default the petitioner “gave up his right to have a judgment of up to \$25,000 awarded in his favor...” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 23). Again, the Court of Appeals properly characterized this reading of *Shores* as “patently meritless.” *Lucas*, Op. No. 2025-UP-011 at 4. And, if the Petitioner was automatically entitled to \$25,000, one wonders why there was a mediation at all.

The Petitioner argues he was damaged by paying for a mediation “that was worthless...” (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 23). It is undisputed, however, that State Farm did offer \$1,000 at mediation and it is undisputed that the Petitioner’s only offer at mediation was the policy limits. (R. pp. 32, 60) If the Petitioner considers the mediation “worthless” it is because the Petitioner refused to negotiate.

While the trial court correctly characterized the plaintiff's damages as speculative because settlement negotiations in the context of mediation or otherwise depend upon a myriad of factors (R. p. 9), the Court of Appeals did not address the issue of damages as the issues the Court of Appeals considered were dispositive. The Petition for Rehearing did not address the issue of damages. Rule 242, SCACR, states the only questions to be included in a petition for writ of certiorari are questions raised "in the petition for rehearing." Rule 242(d)(1), SCACR. The issue of damages is therefore not preserved for review by the Supreme Court.

XII. No question of fact was presented to the Circuit Court because both parties filed cross motions for summary judgment.

The Petitioner claims there was "conflicting evidence" the Circuit Court improperly weighed. (Petition for Writ of Cert. at 23, 24). In fact, there was no conflicting evidence to weigh. The so-called "weighed evidence" was whether a contract compliant with Rule 43(k) existed. Whether an agreement complies with Rule 43(k) is a question of law, not one of fact, and in any event, there was no genuine issue of material fact whether the exchange of emails complied with Rule 43(k). Furthermore, the Petitioner filed his own Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 81-87) and, as noted by the trial court (R. p. 4) and by the Court of Appeals, when parties file cross-motions for summary judgment the issue becomes a question of law for the Court to decide de novo. This part of the Court of Appeals' ruling is not addressed in the Petition for Rehearing to the Court of Appeals. Again, under 242(d)(1), SCACR, only questions raised in a petition for rehearing are to be included in a petition for writ of certiorari.

XIII. The “at-issue” doctrine is inapplicable to the Petitioner’s case and, even if it applies, this issue is not preserved for review when it was not raised to the Circuit Court, was not discussed in the Court of Appeals opinion, and was not raised in the Petition for Rehearing.

This issue is not in the trial court’s order. This issue is not in the Court of Appeals’ order. This issue was not argued in the Petition for Rehearing to the Court of Appeals. It is therefore not preserved for inclusion in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Nonetheless, this issue was addressed in State Farm’s final brief to the Court of Appeals because the Petitioner’s brief to the Court of Appeals argued this issue. (State Farm’s Response Brief in the Court of Appeals at 17). As set forth in State Farm’s final brief to the Court of Appeals, summary judgment was proper even if the Petitioner had discovery on State Farm’s reserves as it is undisputed State Farm did negotiate between its reserve and the liability limits. (R. p. 60).

XIV. Granting summary judgment to State Farm did not improperly deprive the Petitioner of a right to trial by jury.

Rule 242(d)(3), SCACR, requires an argument on each question to include a citation of authority. There is no citation of authority that granting summary judgment deprives a party of a right to trial by jury. In fact, the purpose of Rule 56, SCRCP, is to preserve judicial resources by dismissing cases undeserving of a trial by jury. Acceptance of the Petitioner’s argument would, in effect, abrogate Rule 56. Additionally, this argument was never raised to the trial court and is not preserved for appeal.

CONCLUSION

The Petition for Writ of Certiorari is procedurally and substantively deficient for a number of reasons and should be denied. Numerous parts of the Petition are not preserved for appeal, and the Petitioner has continued to advance an argument the Court of Appeals has characterized as “patently meritless.” The Court should, under Rule 269, SCACR impose sanctions upon the Petitioner.